
PO Box 370, 7330 Thornapple River Drive SE, Ada, MI  49301   P: 616 676-9191   F: 616 676-5870   
www.adatownshipmi.com 

 
   
  
  
 

ADA TOWNSHIP DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MONDAY, JUNE 12, 2017 MEETING, 8:00 A.M. 
ADA TOWNSHIP OFFICES, 7330 THORNAPPLE RIVER DR. SE 

ADA, MICHIGAN 
  

AGENDA 
  
I. Call to Order/Roll Call  
  
II. Approval of Agenda 
 
III. Approval of Minutes of May 8, May 22 and June 5, 2017 Meetings 
 
IV. Approval of Amendment No. 1 to Public Infrastructure, Amenities and Grant Agreement 
 
V. Acceptance of Parking Study Update Final Report and Parking Committee Report and 

Recommendations 
 
VI. Capital Campaign Feasibility Study 
 a. Review/Discussion of Feasibility Study Report 
 b. Resolution to Support Initiation of a Capital Campaign, to Carry Out Park and Civic 

Projects in the Village and Approve Retention of Hopkins Fundraising Consultants to 
Assist in Carrying Out the Campaign 

 
VII. Reports and Communications 
  
 1.  DDA Coordinator Recruitment 
 2.  Tax Sharing Agreement between DDA and Ada Township 
 3.  Design for Riverfront Park 
 4.  Status of Ada Drive Reconstruction 

5.  Status of Bronson St. Parking Project 
6.  DDA Financial Report, 5/31/17 
 

VIII. Board Member Comment 
 
IX. Public Comment  
 
X. Adjournment 
 
 

 



 
ADA TOWNSHIP DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
MINUTES OF THE MAY 8, 2017 MEETING 

ADA, MICHIGAN 
 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
The meeting was called to order at 8:00AM by Chairman Bob Kullgren at the Ada Township office, 7330 
Thornapple River Drive, Ada, MI. 
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:  Terry Bowersox, Bryan Harrison, Jim Ippel, Bob Kullgren, Devin 
Norman, Walt VanderWulp  
BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT: Sarah Andro, George Haga, Ted Wright 
STAFF PRESENT: Jim Ferro, Planning Director 
PUBLIC PRESENT: Ken Dixon, Jennie MacAnaspie, Eileen McNeil, David Madiol 
 
II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
The agenda was approved by consent. 
 
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF APRIL 10 MEETING 
 
It was moved by Bowersox, seconded by Harrison, to approve the April 10 minutes as presented. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
IV. FARMERS’ MARKET, 2016 ANNUAL REPORT 
 
Jennie MacAnaspie, Farmers’ Market Manager, presented information regarding vendor registration fees 
for the 2017 season and the mix of vendors anticipated in the market this year. 
 
Kullgren commented that we should try to maintain a vendor mix that is predominantly food vendors. 
 
Ferro pointed out that at last month’s meeting, Sarah Andro had commented on the impact that the market 
has on the Blimpie/Saburba parking lot, and that some vendors were parking there last year. He asked that 
Jennie monitor this and take steps to prevent it. 
 
Kullgren asked MacAnaspie to prepare a vendor category chart for 2017 for the Board, similar to the 
chart she prepared for 2016. 
 
V. EXTENSION OF AGREEMENT WITH THE COMMUNITY CHURCH FOR USE OF 

PROPERTY FOR FARMERS’ MARKET 

Ferro presented a proposed letter agreement with The Community church to extend the arrangement for 
use of The Community church parking area for the Farmers’ Market through the 2017 season. 
 
It was moved by Harrison, seconded by Bowersox, to approve the agreement. 
 
Motion approved unanimously. 
 
VI. REPORTS AND COMMUNICATIONS 
 
1.  DDA Coordinator Recruitment 
 
Ferro provided an update on recruitment for the DDA Coordinator position.  Kullgren asked that we 

Draft 



Ada Township Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors 
Minutes of the May 8, 2017 Meeting 
Page 2 of 4 
 
contact the GVSU placement office as a source for candidates. 
 
The Board discussed the process that should be used for the candidate review and selection. Bowersox 
expressed an interest in participating on a review/selection Committee. It was suggested Andro be 
contacted regarding her interest in participating. 
 
2.  Parking Study Update and Parking Committee Report 
 
Ferro updated the Board on the status of the parking study update and the completed Parking Committee 
report. He noted there may be additional refinements to the Parking Committee report and 
recommendations. He shared with the Board the table and maps from the draft parking study report 
showing projected building square footage and future parking supply and demand by sub-area in the 
Village.  
 
Ferro noted there would be a future joint work session of the Township Board, DDA Board, Planning 
Commission and the Parking Committee to review and discuss these reports, and that the final Parking 
Study Update report would be distributed to DDA Board members this week. 
  
3.  Capital Campaign Feasibility Study Report 
 
The Capital Campaign Feasibility Study Report was distributed to Board members. He stated another 
joint work session between the Township Board and DDA Board would be scheduled to hear a 
presentation from Hopkins Fundraising Consultants regarding the results of the feasibility study. Ferro 
stated a meeting date poll would be conducted to try to maximize attendance. 
 
Norman commented that the square footage projections for the block he is located in do not appear to be 
accurate. Ferro indicated he would look into the accuracy of the data for that block. 
 
Kullgren stated we need to verify the accuracy of all the data. 
 
4.  Amendment No. 1 to Public Infrastructure, Amenities and Grant Agreement and Tax Sharing 
Agreement between DDA and Ada Township 
 
Kullgren reported that the two agreements are not yet ready for Board review, and that the Township 
Treasurer is poring over the Township financials to provide input to these agreements. 
 
5.  Construction Plans and Specifications for Riverfront Park 
 
Ferro reported we are moving ahead with design work on the riverfront park, including repurposing the 
schoolhouse on the park site for public use, with the goal of having plans out for bid by early June, with a 
construction start date of late-July to early August. 
 
Norman asked whether we gave any consideration to the building being used for anything other than 
bathrooms, for other public use. 
 
Ferro responded that the proposal is to divide the building into two separate spaces, with a portion used 
for restrooms and a portion used as multipurpose space for displays and small group gatherings. 
 
Board members discussed the relative pros and cons of use of the schoolhouse as proposed versus the 
interest expressed by a private entity to use the building for private business use. 
 
Following discussion, the consensus of the Board was that Kullgren should obtain additional details from 
Geld, LLC regarding the nature of the private use that has been contemplated as an alternative to the 



Ada Township Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors 
Minutes of the May 8, 2017 Meeting 
Page 3 of 4 
 
Township’s proposed use, and communicate this information to the DDA Board. 
 
6.  Status of Ada Drive Reconstruction 
 
Ferro stated that things seem to be going well in terms of the public understanding how to access Ada 
Drive businesses during construction. He noted we have had some citizen contact expressing concern 
with the left turn delays at the Headley/Ada Dr. intersection in the morning. Ferro noted Phase 2 of the 
construction on Ada Drive was planned to start in early June. 
 
Eileen McNeil, Seyferth PR, noted that the phase 2 plan for access to businesses would be more 
complicated, and we are gearing up for the communications effort to educate the public on how to access 
businesses. 
 
Ippel asked whether we are communicating personally with individual businesses in the shopping center. 
Ferro stated he has spoken with Vitale’s ownership, and Chase Bank branch representatives, but not 
others. 
 
Norman commented that there seems to be a much more rapid response by the Township to concerns 
raised than there was previously. 
 
Ippel asked when Vitales would be moving. Ferro stated he believed that the property owner is working 
with Vitales to develop a plan for them to remain open in their current location until their new location is 
completed. 
 
7.  Status of Bronson St. Parking Project 
 
Ferro reported that the Bronson St. parking project should be completed prior to Memorial Day. 
 
VII. BOARD MEMBER COMMENT 
 
Norman asked whether the large sign on the Thornapple Valley Baseball dugout on Thornapple River Dr. 
was being removed. Ferro stated that the Township has communicated to the baseball league and Lion’s 
Club that it needs to be removed. 
 
Ippel stated that in considering whether to add special events at The Community parking lot, we need to 
consider the impact this has on parking, and shifting of employees to parking in other locations. 
 
Ippel expressed concern that the parking study does not take into consideration real life, on-the-ground 
circumstances. Ferro stated that the analysis is based on actual counts of parking space useage. 
 
Ippel stated the different conditions on Tuesdays when The Community Church lot is not available for 
public use is an example of actual conditions that need to be considered. 
Ferro responded that the parking study included collection of parking usage data during Farmers’ Market 
operations, and that the data is in the Final Report. 
 
Ippel asked whether the Township has actively pursued a permanent parking arrangement with The 
Community church. Ferro stated we have, and that the church’s current position is they are not ready to 
engage in any active discussions or commitments until their leadership group consults with the entire 
church membership regarding the future direction of the church, which they plan to do on a Sunday in 
June. 
 
Kullgren stated that The Community has expressed a desire to remain in the Village. 
 



Ada Township Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors 
Minutes of the May 8, 2017 Meeting 
Page 4 of 4 
 
Harrison stated that there are many moving pieces, and that if we have the Headley Street property 
available, public parking at the church site may not be the highest and best use.  
 
XI. Public Comment 
 
Eileen McNeil, Seyferth PR, updated the Board on the business window art display and competition that 
is being jointly organized by the Ada Business Association, Ada Arts Council and Kendall College.  She 
encouraged Board members to see the window art on a number of business display windows in the 
Village. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
It was moved by Bowersox, seconded by Harrison, to adjourn the meeting at 9:30 a.m. 
 
Motion approved unanimously. 
 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
      
Devin Norman, Secretary/Treasurer 





































 
 
 
 

REPORT OF PARKING COMMITTEE 
TO 

ADA TOWNSHIP BOARD 
ADA TOWNSHIP DDA BOARD 

ADA TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

May 1, 2017 
 
Overview of Committee Process: 
 
The 9-member Parking Committee was appointed by the Township Supervisor in February 2017, and 
charged with evaluating future parking needs in the Ada Village area, and developing a recommended 
strategy for meeting those needs. In carrying out this charge, the Committee worked with Township staff 
and the Township’s parking consultant, Rich & Associates, in updating the parking study that was 
initially completed in early 2016. Since its appointment in February, the Committee has held 3 meetings, 
at which it carried out the following tasks: 
 
● Review of parking inventory data and parking space occupancy data collected in the last year by 
Township staff for public and private parking spaces in the Village. 
 
● Review of projections of future parking demand and future parking supply in the Village, based 
on anticipated redevelopment plans for properties in the Village. 
 
● Assessment of projected areas of future parking deficiency and surplus on a block-by-block basis. 
 
● Evaluation of alternative locations for future development of additional public parking. 
 
● Review of recommended parking management measures contained within the updated Parking 
Study report, to obtain better utilization of the existing parking supply in the Village. 
 
Parking Committee Findings: 
 
The following overall approach and principles should guide the development of public parking in the 
Village: 
 
1. On-street parking is the least costly means of meeting parking needs, as the travel lane in the street 
doubles as the access lane in a parking lot and any additional construction and maintenance costs pertain 
only to the stalls themselves. It therefore makes sense to make maximum use of existing on-street parking 
and add more where feasible. 
 
2.  Remaining parking needs in the Village should be met with public surface parking areas rather than a 
parking structure, due to the visual impact, the very high initial cost per stall and high life cycle operation 
and maintenance costs of a parking structure compared to surface parking. 
 
3. Smaller, dispersed public parking areas are preferable to a single large parking area. Smaller lots: 

• allow the flexibility to increase parking supply as the actual demand is determined, rather than 
‘betting’ incorrectly and providing too much initially. This way, parking may be added 
incrementally to suit evolving requirements.  

• can be constructed more quickly, avoiding a potentially harmful lag time between newly 
recognized demand and increased supply. 

• can be strategically located closer to areas of actual need. 



• may be tucked within oddly-shaped ‘leftover’ parcels. 
• have less negative impact on the urban environment, as they are more easily screened with 

landscaping and/or development.  
• can be converted to other uses such as development sites or open space and plazas, acting as 

‘placeholders’ within the community in the event that parking demand is ever reduced. 

Parking Committee Recommendations: 
 
Based on the process described above and with the above-stated principles in mind, the Committee 
unanimously approved the following three recommendations: 
 
1. The Committee recommends that the Township Board approve the Ada Village Parking Study, 
Final Report. 
 
2. The Committee finds there will likely be a future need for 30 to 90 additional public parking 
spaces in the Village, based on the buildout projections contained in the Parking Study Final Report. 
 
3. The Committee recommends that the Township take steps to secure and hold land in appropriate 
locations in the Village for development of additional public parking in the future, if needed, or for 
development of other public facilities or sold for private development, if warranted by changed future 
conditions. 
 
In addition, the Committee discussed the need for the Township to have an ongoing process for 
evaluating parking needs and making future decisions regarding development of public parking and 
implementing parking management measures, based on the information contained in the Parking Study 
Final Report. 



ADA TOWNSHIP BOARD 
ADA TOWNSHIP DDA BOARD 

ADA TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION 
TUESDAY, JUNE 6, 2017 WORK SESSION MEETING

REVIEW/DISCUSSION OF PARKING STUDY UPDATE
AND PARKING COMMITTEE REPORT



Projected Future Parking Surplus/Deficit, by Block 

Example of Square Footage Projections Used to Project Parking Demand



Projected Future Parking Surplus/Deficit, by Block 



Parking Generation Rates – Current and Future
• Daytime parking demand generation rates (PGR’s), expressed as # 

of parking spaces per 1,000 square feet of floor area, for each land 
use type.

• Current PGR’s are based on 2016 conditions in the Village, based 
on square footage inventory and parking occupancy rates as 
inventoried by the consultant.



Parking Generation Rates – Current and Future
• Daytime parking demand generation rates (PGR’s), expressed as # 

of parking spaces per 1,000 square feet of floor area, for each land 
use type.

• Future PGR’s are potential future higher generation rates, based 
on the assumption that the Village will become a more attractive 
visitor destination in the future, with higher levels of visitor and 
business customer traffic.



Percentage change in Parking Generation Rates, 
from Current to Future

Office 23%
Medical Office 27%
Gov. -1%
Retail 22%
Service 14%
Day Care 0%
Grocery 0%
Mixed Use 0%
Restaurant/Bar 12%
Residential (per unit) 0%
Warehouse/Auto Repair & Sales 0%
Library 33%
Community 20%
Vacant 0%







Projected Future Parking Deficits

• Block 2A (west half of former shopping center): +10 to -30 spaces
• Block 2B (east half of former shopping center): -32 to -63 spaces
• Block 10: (Ada West Commercial Center): -4 to -28 spaces

• Block 7 (Ada Hardware to GR Bicycle Co.) and Block 4 (Township Hall) 
have a future deficit, but with 88 adjacent head-in spaces on Bronson 
St. considered, the area as a whole has a projected parking surplus.



Alternatives for Meeting Future Parking Needs 







Recommended Areas for 3 Hour Parking Limit



Parking Committee Recommendations

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

1. Maximize use of on-street parking.
2. Meet remaining parking needs with public surface parking areas rather than a parking structure.
3. Smaller, dispersed public parking areas are preferable to a single large parking area. Smaller lots:

• allow the flexibility to increase parking supply incrementally as the need arises.
• can be constructed more quickly.
• can be strategically located closer to areas of actual need.
• may be tucked within oddly-shaped ‘leftover’ parcels.
• have less negative visual impact, as they are more easily screened with landscaping 

and/or development.
• can be converted to other uses such as development sites or open space and plazas, acting as 

placeholders within the community in the event that parking demand is ever reduced.



Parking Committee Recommendations

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. The Committee recommends that the Township Board approve the Ada 
Village Parking Study, Final Report.

2. The Committee finds there will likely be a future need for 30 to 90 
additional public parking spaces in the Village, based on the buildout projections 
contained in the Parking Study Final Report.

3. The Committee recommends that the Township take steps to secure and 
hold land in appropriate locations in the Village for development of additional 
public parking in the future, if needed, or for development of other public facilities 
or sold for private development, if warranted by changed future conditions



 

RESOLUTION NO. _____________ 
ADA TOWNSHIP DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

COUNTY OF KENT, MICHIGAN 
 

RESOLUTION TO SUPPORT THE INITIATION OF A CAPITAL CAMPAIGN FOR 
FINANCIAL SUPPORT OF PARK AND CIVIC AMENITY PROJECTS ASSOCIATED 

WITH THE ENVISION ADA VILLAGE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 
 

Minutes of a regular meeting of the Board of the Downtown Development Authority, 
Township of Ada, Kent County, Michigan, held at the Township Hall in said Township on the 
12th day of June, 2017, at 8:00 a.m. Local Time. 
 
PRESENT: Members:    

   
ABSENT: Members:    

 
The following resolution was offered by Member ________________ and supported by 

Member ________________: 
 
WHEREAS, in 2013, Ada Township carried out the Envision Ada planning process, which 

resulted in a plan for redevelopment in the Ada Village area based on significant involvement of 
residents and businesses in the community; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Envision Ada Plan for Village redevelopment includes plans for 

significant public park space and civic amenities in the Village, including the need for a multi-
purpose civic building in the Village; and 

 
WHEREAS, preliminary design plans for public parks in the Village have been completed, 

with proposed park improvements having an estimated cost of $4.4 million; and 
 
WHEREAS, significant public interest has been expressed in the development of a Kent 

District Library branch in the Village; and 
 
WHEREAS,  a preliminary plan has been developed by the DDA for the development of 

a civic building of approximately 14,000 square feet in the Village that would include a Kent 
District Library Branch, civic meeting space and a multi-purpose event space, with an estimated 
cost of $4.3 million; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Ada Township DDA retained Hopkins Fundraising Consulting to 

complete a capital campaign feasibility study, to assess community response to and extent of 
financial support for the projects proposed to be completed; and 

 
WHEREAS, the feasibility study included preparation of a “Case for Support” which 

identified a potential capital campaign to financially support the projects described above, with a 
potential campaign goal of approximately $4.4 million; and 

 
WHEREAS, the results of the feasibility study indicated that there is significant support 

and enthusiasm for the projects proposed in the Case for Support, and a high likelihood that a 
capital campaign with a goal of $4.4 million would be successful, 



 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. The DDA Board hereby expresses its support for the initiation of a community 

capital campaign to financially support completion of park and civic amenity projects in the 
Village. 

 
2. The DDA Board hereby expresses its intent to carry out the Envision Ada park and 

civic projects in the Village, including development of a civic building in the Village to include a 
Kent District Library branch and community meeting and event space. 

 
3. The DDA Board hereby approves the retention of Hopkins Fundraising Consulting 

to assist in carrying out the capital campaign, as set forth in the proposal from Hopkins Fundraising 
Consulting dated May 5, 2017. 
 
On a roll call vote on the adoption of the above resolution, the vote was: 
 
AYES: Members:    
 
     
 
NAYS: Members:    
 
ABSTAIN: Members:    
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 
 

__________________________________________ 
Devin Norman, Secretary/Treasurer 
Ada Township Downtown Development Authority 



1 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Feasibility Study Report 
 

 
Presented to the  

Ada Downtown Development  
Authority and Ada Township 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

May, 2017 
 
 
 



2 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 
 

Feasibility Study Methodology       3 
 
Positive Trends         6 
 
Cautionary Trends         10 
 
Conclusions          14 
 
Recommendations         17 
 
Tentative Gift Chart        21 
 
Tentative Campaign Schedule       22 
 
Tentative Campaign Budget       24 
 
Interviewees         26 
 
Suggested Leadership        27 
 
Suggested Gift Support        28 
 
Next Steps          29 
 
Appendix: Case for Support



3 

Feasibility Study Methodology 
 

As a precursor to initiating a major fundraising campaign, a feasibility study 
was conducted to assess community response to the Envision Ada project, a 
proposed $4.4 million fundraising effort to develop the river front and build a 
community center and library in downtown Ada.   
 
To prepare for the study process, the following tasks were completed: 
 

 Hopkins Fundraising Consulting familiarized itself with the history of the 
Envision Ada project and the anticipated community benefits to accrue 
from a campaign. 
 

 Working with staff leadership, a Case for Support document was 
developed highlighting the project plan and the rationale for a 
community-based campaign to achieve the outlined objectives. 
 

 A list of community leaders was developed.  This list included long time, 
generous local philanthropists, Foundation leadership, area business 
leaders, and other key community opinion leaders. 
 

 The Case for Support was mailed to the selected leadership with an 
invitation to participate in an interview process that would result in a 
feasibility study report to be delivered to the leadership of the 
Downtown Development Authority and the Township.  

 
To properly assess the Township’s prospects for a campaign, I interviewed 24 
community opinion leaders throughout the community during the winter of 
2017.  Interviewees were assured that their individual responses to questions 
would remain confidential to ensure candid responses.   
 
Those who were interviewed represented an excellent cross-section of the 
broader business, corporate, and professional leadership in the area.  The 
objective of the feasibility study was to evaluate answers to the following 
questions: 
 



4 

 What is the community understanding/perception of the Envision Ada 
project? 
 

 What is the community reaction to the proposed project (as outlined in 
the Case for Support document)? 
 

 What are the strongest elements of the proposed project plan? 
 

 What are the weakest elements of the proposed project plan? 
 

 Is a fundraising campaign for this project feasible at the level proposed 
in the Case for Support? 
 

 Are community members willing to accept major leadership roles in a 
campaign effort on behalf of the Envision Ada project? 
 

 What type of financial support is the community willing to dedicate to 
this plan? 
 

 What is the proper timing and strategy for a campaign effort? 
 

 What potential obstacles might be encountered if a campaign was 
initiated for this plan? 
 

 What other strategies/options might be explored to achieve the desired 
objective? 
 

Interviews were conducted with an emphasis on giving the respondents 
ample opportunity to provide additional information not covered in the above 
questions.   
 
The following pages provide a synopsis of those interviews, a summary of 
positive and cautionary trends identified through the interview process, 
conclusions and recommendations regarding a decision to move ahead with a 
campaign effort, and supporting materials to assist the leadership in their final 
decision making. 
 



5 

Hopkins Fundraising Consulting has a great deal of confidence in the findings 
and recommendations summarized in this report based on twenty years of 
experience in conducting fundraising campaigns in the region.  
 
 
*Throughout this report, italicized sections represent paraphrased comments 
that reflect the sentiments of a majority of the interview population.   
 
 
 



6 

Positive Trends 
 

1. Overall reaction to the Envision Ada project was overwhelmingly positive.  

Respondents are excited about the development in downtown Ada and are 

greatly anticipating the use of the riverfront as a centerpiece of a 

redefined Ada community.  There was additional positive response (to 

lesser degrees) to the community center/library concept, the 

enhancement of the Farmers Market, and the additional community green 

space.  In summary, nearly every interviewee could find something in the 

plan that they liked. 

 

2. The majority of respondents believe that the development of Ada and the 

completion of the Envision Ada project will greatly boost visitors to the 

village and that is anticipated to have a very positive effect for local 

business owners.  As one interviewee noted: “It will take a while to get 

some traction and attract the right business mix, but in a few years, Ada 

should rival Rockford and East Grand Rapids as destination communities.”  

Another suggested: “Ada has the potential to be one of the very best places 

in our community for small businesses.” 

 
3. Most interviewees liked that the Envision Ada leadership made an 

intentional effort to preserve the “village feel” of downtown Ada.  These 

respondents strongly encouraged DDA and township leaders to keep a 

village concept at the center of any development plans.   

 
4. Respondents ranked the Envision Ada project elements (in priority order) 

in the following way: 

 

 1st: Riverfront development/outdoor amphitheatre/green space 

along the Thornapple river/walkability of the riverfront 

 2nd: Farmers Market expansion 

 3rd: Community Center/Library 

 4th: Green space along Fulton 



7 

 

Community members were very interested in the use of the Thornapple 

River as a community asset, loved the idea of summer concerts along the 

river, and encouraged the leadership of Envision Ada to “highlight the 

environmental aspects of the plan” to encourage donorship. 

 

5.  Interviewees suggested that achieving a $4 million goal should be doable if 

the right leadership can be attracted to the project.  Many believed that 

the project would garner broad community support and many agreed with 

the respondent who suggested: “Ada is one of the wealthiest communities 

in Kent County.  The funding potential is there if a leadership team is willing 

to work.” 

 

6. There was widespread appreciation for the role that the Amway 

Corporation has played in helping to secure properties in downtown Ada 

to ensure that this project has the potential to become a reality.  As one 

interviewee noted: “Amway made a catalytic investment in Ada that has 

spurred all this opportunity.  The entire community is benefitting from their 

foresight, generosity, and goodwill.” 

 
7. The Downtown Development Authority’s willingness to contribute half of 

the funding for the full project was applauded.  Interview respondents 

recognized the power of a private/public partnership in achieving this goal 

and several suggested positioning the DDA commitment as a match to 

donated charitable funds. 

 
8. The concept of a community center in downtown Ada was viewed quite 

favorably.  Respondents like the idea of a community gathering space in 

the center of the village but cautioned that leadership carefully consider 

the parking ramifications of such a facility (see Cautionary Trends). 

 
9. Several respondents suggested the potential for a collaborative effort with 

Meijer Gardens to host a concert series along the river.  These 



8 

interviewees believed that the leadership of the gardens would welcome a 

cooperative effort with a smaller, geographically local venue and many 

believed that the village would benefit from the expertise that Meijer 

Garden leadership could contribute to such a facility. 

 
10.   Several respondents compared this plan to the development of 

downtown Holland several decades ago.  As one interviewee noted: “When 

Holland began investing in their downtown, there was some initial 

skepticism, but look at it now.  It’s one of the most attractive communities 

in West Michigan and Elsa Prince helped jumpstart that effort.  Now, the 

Amway families are doing the same thing here.” 

 

 



9 

Cautionary Trends 
 

1. There was some concern expressed by interview respondents that because 

of the project’s close proximity to the Amway Corporation, that there may 

be a community assumption that Amway (and its founding families) will 

cover the project cost.  These same respondents cautioned that any 

campaign effort must include small business leadership and community 

leaders at large to demonstrate that the fundraising burden must be 

shared by the entire community and not just a few donors.  As one 

interviewee suggested: “This must have the feel and voice of the entire 

community.  We can’t make this an ‘Amway’ project.  The benefits will be 

enjoyed by everyone, so everyone should participate in making this project 

a reality.” 

 

2. Availability of parking was an overwhelming concern of interview 

respondents.  The density of the community and the anticipated increase 

in visitors that the Envision Ada project will bring to downtown caused the 

majority of respondents to suggest that a comprehensive parking plan that 

fits into the village plan must be developed and shared with the 

community as part of any fundraising effort.  As one respondent noted: 

“Whenever I go to Rockford, I struggle to find parking.  We’ve got to find a 

better solution in Ada.” 

 
3. There was some disagreement among respondents regarding the inclusion 

of a library as part of the development plan.  Some viewed the library as 

unnecessary given the close proximity of the Cascade branch of KDL, while 

others questioned the need for libraries in a technology saturated 

community.  Others realized that the demand for library services is very 

high (the Cascade branch of KDL is the busiest branch in the system) and 

knew that library usage in the area is increasing, not decreasing and as a 

result, viewed the library project as attractive and worthwhile.  Note: 

There is support for the library from some key donors in the region. 



10 

 
4. There will be limited Foundation support for this project from the broader 

Kent County community.  Area foundation leaders are hesitant to support 

small community projects for fear that they will be asked to support all 

small community projects.  In the words of one Foundation leader: “This is 

a very attractive project, but we can’t participate as a funder because it 

would open a floodgate of requests from other communities for similar 

development ideas and we simply don’t have the funds to help every 

community.” 

 
5. There was near unanimous agreement that an Envision Ada campaign 

should be led by area business leaders and not by governmental 

leadership.  Respondents cautioned that a campaign with civic leadership 

would feel less like a charitable endeavor and more like a governmental 

mandate. 

 
6. Interview respondents suggested two modifications to the existing plan: 

 

 Most respondents suggested the elimination of the green space 

adjacent to the community center/library building.  There was 

significant concern about the safety and security of children in close 

proximity to the busy traffic on Fulton Street.  Many suggested that 

this land be used for additional parking instead 

 

 A majority of interviewees suggested moving the Farmers Market to 

the riverfront to take full advantage of this venue and to highlight 

one of Ada’s best known outdoor events. 

 
7. Several small business owners suggested that there is a “wait and see” 

attitude among some area business leaders.  The main concerns are 

parking availability, the ability of township leaders to draw additional 

attractive businesses to the downtown, and some trepidation about 

increasing rent.  Despite this, there was broad agreement that an 



11 

investment in the downtown region was very likely to result in an increase 

in customers and visitors to the region.   

 



12 

Conclusions 

 

Given the above positive and cautionary trends identified in the interviews, it 
is the judgment of Hopkins Fundraising Consulting that the Envision Ada 
project has the potential to raise significant funding in support of the 
proposed project.  
 
In setting a campaign goal, DDA and township leadership should consider one 
of the following funding scenarios: 
 
Conservative Campaign Goal: $2,500,000  
 
Requirements to reach goal:   

 All questions in the feasibility study answered adequately.   

 Campaign leadership drawn from the surrounding small business 
leadership and from the general community.  

 All feasibility study respondents participating at the low end of the 
gifting range they discussed as part of the study.   

 Low level participation in the campaign by the broader community.  
 
Moderate Campaign Goal: $3,000,000 to $3,500,000 
 
Requirements to reach goal: 

 All questions in the feasibility study answered adequately. 

 Campaign leadership drawn from the broader Ada community to 
include small business leaders, general community leadership, and 
Amway corporate leaders. 

 Widespread community endorsements of the campaign effort. 

 All feasibility study respondents participating at the high end of the 
gifting levels they mentioned as part of the study. 

 Good participation in the campaign by the broader community. 
 
Aggressive Campaign Goal: $4,000,000+ 
 
Requirements to reach goal:  

 All questions in the feasibility study answered adequately. 



13 

 Very compelling case statement based on feedback from feasibility 
study participants. 

 Campaign leadership drawn from the top echelon of the Ada 
community and proven area leaders. 

 Engaged volunteers committed to executing proven, time-tested and 
successful fundraising practices. 

 Widespread community endorsements of the campaign effort. 

 All feasibility study respondents participating at or above the high end 
of the gifting range they mentioned as part of the study. 

 Securing at least a $1 million lead gift (especially if the overall goal 
exceeds $4 million). 

 Exceptional participation in the campaign by the broader local 
community. 

 
Regardless of the goal that is identified for the project, an important 
consideration should be reviewed: 
 

 Positioning the project with two distinct construction phases:  
o Phase One: Riverfront development 
o Phase Two: Community Center/Library Facility 
o Funding for both phases to be secured under the auspices of one 

fundraising campaign, but leadership should position the 
Riverfront development as the initial phase given the positive 
reviews of that project component from the feasibility study. 

 
Raising funds in support of this effort will not be easy and it will require the 
dedication of committed community volunteers.  However, with hard work, a 
good plan, and passionate leaders, the Envision Ada project has significant 
potential for success.   
 
Based on the key trends identified in this report, and pursuant to answering 
several of the important questions posed by community leaders during this 
study, the leadership of the DDA and the township should be confident that it 
can achieve some philanthropic funding for this plan given careful planning 
and conscientious cultivation of community donors.   

 



14 

Recommendations 
 

Should the leadership of Envision Ada determine that a fundraising effort 
should be initiated, Hopkins Fundraising Consulting suggests the following 
steps in preparation for a successful campaign: 
 
1. Set a campaign goal not to exceed $4 million.  Show all relevant line 

items, including campaign expenses. 
 
2. If setting an “aggressive” fundraising goal, begin immediate 

conversations with key donors to determine the likelihood of a $XX 
million lead gift possibility.   

 
3. Complete the parking study and provide the community with the 

reassurance that parking issues can be addressed to benefit area 
businesses. 

 
4. Focus initial fundraising efforts on the redevelopment of the river, the 

walkability of the community, the preservation of green space, and the 
family friendly amenities that will result from a successful campaign. 

 
5. Work with KDL leadership to flesh out the plan for the library with 

specifics to include unique programming aspects and community benefits 
not found at other library locations.  Consider the elimination of green 
space along Fulton due to safety and security concerns.   

 
6. Highlight the enhancement of the Farmers Market as a result of the 

Envision Ada project.  Show how the improvements will lead to a more 
robust market that attracts new visitors to downtown Ada. 

 
7. Position the DDA financial commitment as a match of charitable funds 

that are committed to the project.  Highlight the public/private 
partnership opportunity that this project provides. 

 
8. Begin thoughtful consideration of recruiting campaign leadership.  

Campaign leadership for this project must be derived from Board leaders, 
business leadership, community volunteers and Amway corporate 



15 

representation.  A tri-chair leadership configuration of Amway 
leadership, small business leadership, and community at-large leadership 
is likely the best scenario for success. 

 
9. Seek an honorary chair(s) that is/are widely respected, recognized, and 

passionate about the project plan. 
 

10. Consider whether or not the Envision Ada project will require campaign 
consulting assistance to plan, organize, and implement a successful 
fundraising effort.  Identify an internal staff member to serve as the 
campaign coordinator and key contact person for all campaign related 
inquiries.  This will require a near full time equivalent. 

 
11. Prepare answers to the questions raised during the feasibility study (see 

Cautionary Trends).   
 

12. Begin a series of meetings with interested stakeholders to communicate 
the findings of the feasibility study and to explain key steps going 
forward. 

 
13. Develop a tentative timeline for the campaign effort. 
 
14. Build a community-wide endorsement council of opinion leaders and 

area philanthropists who will “endorse” the project by lending their 
name to the effort.  

 
15. Approve a gift chart that outlines a road map to the campaign goal.  

Ensure that the leadership team understands the necessary gifting levels 
to achieve campaign success. 

 
16. Seek gift commitments from DDA and township Board members/staff to 

demonstrate the leadership’s belief and investment in the project plan 
and the proposed campaign. 

 
17. Identify key themes for the campaign based on feedback from the 

feasibility study.  These themes should include: Ada as a destination 
community, a focus on family friendly amenities, creation of gathering 



16 

space for the development of community connections and the 
preservation and utilization of the riverfront asset. 

  
18. Meet with potential lead donor candidates to review the feasibility study 

and to discuss their role in making a significant leadership gift to the 
campaign. 

 
19. Prepare simple but compelling campaign materials (i.e. campaign 

brochure, pledge cards, letterhead, envelopes, acknowledgement cards) 
detailing the funding objectives of the campaign.  In all marketing 
materials, emphasize the impact on the lives of your Ada residents and 
on the broader community. 

 
20. Concentrate initial solicitation strategies on key major gift prospects.  The 

ability to raise substantial funding support will clearly be a function of the 
success in this area.  Each one of these special contacts must be made 
with ample preparation, careful attention to the request, and the 
selection of the most appropriate solicitation team.  In order to reach the 
goal, it will be necessary to secure approximately 70% to 80% of the 
funds from these key advanced gift donor prospects. 

 
21. Implement any community-wide fundraising strategies only after 

completing successful fundraising efforts with leadership gifts.  Time the 
fundraising strategies of this effort to coincide with a public 
announcement of the campaign and appropriate media strategies to 
support that effort.   

 
22. Consider implementation of a broad based direct mail campaign to 

current Ada residents.  This effort should only be launched after more 
personal solicitation strategies have been exhausted and should include a 
lower entry donor point (i.e. buy a brick) option. 

 
23. Develop and implement a donor acknowledgement process (which may 

include naming opportunities) and a gift/pledge payment system that will 
ensure timely receipt of gifts and appropriate acknowledgement of 
donors. 

 



17 

It is important to remember that a campaign effort for the Envision Ada 
project will succeed, in the long run, because supporters understand the 
benefits that will accrue to the community as the result a redeveloped 
downtown. 
 
No campaign effort is easy—but through hard work, careful planning, and 
dedicated and committed leadership, you can be successful. 



18 

Tentative Gift Chart 

 
 

Campaign Goal:  $4,000,000 
 

 

Level Number of Gifts Gift Range Cumulative Total 
A 1 $500,000 $500,000 

B 3 $300,000 $1,400,000 
D 4 $150,000 $2,000,000 

E 5 $100,000 $2,500,000 

F 6 $50,000 $2,800,000 
G 8 $25,000 $3,000,000 

H 10 $15,000 $3,150,000 
I 15 $10,000 $3,300,000 

J 20 $5,000 $3,400,000 

K 40 $3,000 $3,420,000 
L Many Less than $3,000 $4,000,000 

 
 
**For every one gift, assume three prospects. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



19 

Tentative Campaign Schedule 
 

Until the Board of the Ada DDA makes a final decision to proceed with a 
campaign, it is difficult to construct an exact campaign timetable.  However, it 
is my experience that a campaign of this magnitude will require approximately 
12 to 14 months to complete. 
 
Four to Six Months 
 

 Review of Feasibility Study. 
 

 Board decision and approvals to proceed with a campaign. 
 

 Revisions to the Case for Support.  
 

 Determination of final campaign goal, timetable, etc… 
 

 Determination of a campaign organizational structure.  
 

 Determination of lead donor cultivation activities. 
 

 Accumulation of the critical project endorsements. 
 

 Development of campaign marketing materials. 
 

 Identification/recruitment of top campaign leaders. 
 

 Identification/recruitment of a representative Campaign Cabinet. 
 

 Implementation of solicitation strategies among Board members. 
 

 Implementation of a staff solicitation plan. 
 

 Identification and evaluation process of key major donor prospects. 
 

 Initiation of private conversations with lead donor prospects. 
 



20 

 Development of appropriate naming opportunities. 
 

 Development of a gift/pledge acknowledgment process. 
 

 Convene leadership cabinet to begin the campaign effort. 
 
 
Four to Six Months 
 

 Ongoing Campaign Cabinet meetings. 
 

 Identification and evaluation of major gift prospects. 
 

 Initiation of Advanced Gift strategies among key prospects. 
 

 Solicitation training for community volunteers. 
 

 Identification of local/regional Foundation prospects. 
 

 Foundation grant submissions. 
 
 
Four to Six Months 

 

 Launch the "public phase" of the campaign.   
 

 Initiation of any community-wide solicitation efforts. 
 

 Follow-up to key prospects unable to respond to initial requests. 
 

 Coordination of the records management needs of the campaign. 
 

 Implement volunteer and donor recognition.  
 

 Hold campaign/community celebration. 
 

 Other campaign strategies deemed necessary. 



21 

Tentative Campaign Budget 
 

Although it is difficult to judge precisely the appropriate operating budget for 
this campaign, it should be the goal of campaign leadership that the total 
campaign budget should not exceed five percent of the final campaign goal. 
 
The elements to be considered in the development of a comprehensive 
campaign budget include: 
 

 Campaign Counsel (optional)  
 

 Solicitation Materials  
  Brochure 
  Pledge Cards & Return Envelopes 
  Stationery & Envelopes 
  Thank You Notecards & Return Envelopes 
  Mailing Labels 
  Campaign Video (optional) 
 

 Office Support  
  Supplies 
  Equipment 
  Donor Database Software (optional) 
  Postage 
   

 Awareness Activities  
  Campaign web site and social media strategies 
  Donor cultivation activities 
  Volunteer training sessions 
  Various community awareness events 
  Public Announcement activities 
 

 Contingency  
 
 



22 

As the campaign action plan is developed, the budget will also take shape.  It 
must be approved prior to solicitation and should be shown as a line-item in 
all published campaign materials. 



23 

Feasibility Study Interviewees (24) 
 
 
Alan Hartline (Kingmas) 
Ben Wickstrom (Erhardt Construction) 
Bill Payne (Amway) 
David Dams (Old National Bank) 
David Madiol and Michelle Meulendyk (One by One Foundation)  
Devin Norman (Norman Dentistry) 
Fred Keller (Keller Foundation) 
Jason Zylstra and Ginny VanderHart (DeVos Family Foundations)  
Jim and Mary Nelson (Community Volunteers) 
Jim Rosloniec (Ada Business Leader) 
Julie Ridenour (Steelcase Foundation)      
Kate Luckert Schmidt (Grand Rapids Community Foundation) 
Margaret Idema (Community Volunteer) 
Pat Lonergan (Fifth Third Bank) 
Scotty Kehoe (DTE Energy Foundation) 
Stacie Behler (Meijer) 
Steve and Amy Van Andel (Amway) 
Steve Wilson and Lynne Ferrell (Frey Foundation)  
Tom Smith (Ada Bike Shop)  



24 

Suggested Leadership 
 

 
Alan Hartline 
Ben Wickstrom 
Bert Bleke 
Bill Payne 
Dan Vos 
Dave Ellis 
Penny and Jamie Ladd 
Devin Norman 
Doug and Maria DeVos 
Jim Rosloniec 
Joel Harner 
John and Bonnie Sebright 
Margaret Idema 
Mary and Bill Ford 
Mike Rosloniec 
Steve and Amy Van Andel 
U. Turan 



25 

Suggested Gift Support 

 
Amway 
Bill and Mary Ford 
Dan Vos Construction 
DeVos Families 
Erhardt Construction 
Frey Foundation 
Gary Tilkin 
Gilmore Family 
Grand Rapids Community Foundation 
JC Huizenga 
Jeff VandenBerg 
Jerry and Marcie Tubergen 
 Jim and Marianne Delavan 
John and Bonnie Sebright 
Kate Pew Wolters 
Local Banks 
McDonalds 
Meijer 
Peter Cook Foundation 
Randy Damstra and Julie Duisterhof 
Secchia Family 
Steelcase Foundation 
Van Andel Families 
Wege Foundation 
 
 
 
 
 

 



26 

Next Steps 

 
Following Board and staff review of the results of this feasibility study, 
Hopkins Fundraising Consulting recommends the following: 
 
A letter should be mailed to all feasibility study participants.  It should: 

 
o Thank the participant(s) for their time 
o Provide a brief synopsis of the feasibility study results 
o Indicate the next steps in the process  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



27 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix: 
 

Case for Support 
 

 






































	Parking Presentation-06-06-17.pdf
	� ADA TOWNSHIP BOARD �ADA TOWNSHIP DDA BOARD �ADA TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION �TUESDAY, JUNE 6, 2017 WORK SESSION MEETING
	Projected Future Parking Surplus/Deficit, by Block 
	Projected Future Parking Surplus/Deficit, by Block 
	Parking Generation Rates – Current and Future
	Parking Generation Rates – Current and Future
	Percentage change in Parking Generation Rates, from Current to Future�
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Projected Future Parking Deficits
	� Alternatives for Meeting Future Parking Needs 
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Recommended Areas for 3 Hour Parking Limit
	Parking Committee Recommendations
	Parking Committee Recommendations


